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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC11-02417 
CASE NAME: CALIFORNIA FAIR PLAN ASSOC.  VS.  GARNES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL THE DEPOSITION OF RISA SALAT-KOLM 
FILED BY CALIFORNIA FAIR PLAN ASSOCIATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. Ms. Salat-Kolm may have non-privileged personal knowledge of issues related to 
claims presented by Marlene and Johnie Garnes in their bad faith cross-complaint, particularly 
with respect to the reasonableness of FAIR Plan’s choice and interpretation of policy forms. She 
also may have personal knowledge of issues surrounding FAIR Plan’s decision to modify its 
policy language in 2017.  
 
There was no substantial justification for Ms. Salat-Kolm’s counsel to unilaterally terminate her 
deposition. As a result, the court is required to award sanctions pursuant to CCP §2025.480. 
The amount of the sanctions will be set at the hearing upon presentation of an updated cost and 
expense declaration from the moving party. Counsel shall be prepared to address whether such 
sanctions should be awarded against Ms. Salat-Kolm, Ms. Wang or the California Department of 
Insurance.  
 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC12-02203 
CASE NAME: SYSTEMS VS. HERNANDEZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
FILED BY SYSTEMS & SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. No opposition.  

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC12-02493 
CASE NAME: BLUE VS. ISADORE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO TAX COSTS OF DEFENDANT ANTONIO CONSTANZA 
FILED BY ELEANOR M. BLUE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to May 10, 2018 at 9:00 AM per fax of counsel. 
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 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-01594 
CASE NAME: ATHWAL VS. LEISURE HOTEL GROUP 
SPECIALLY SET HEARING ON: STATUS OF BUY-OUT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Settled per fax of counsel. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01144 
CASE NAME: OWENS VS. BURNS 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES 
FILED BY GARY OWENS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear.  

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01334 
CASE NAME: NATIONSTAR VS. GRANADOS 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Nationstar Mortgage, LLC’s motion for summary judgment is continued until June 28, 
2018.  The court understands that Nationstar has moved to substitute Wilmington Savings Fund 
Society, FSB, dba Cristiane Trust, not individually but as Trustee for Premium Mortgage 
Acquisition Trust as the real party in interest.  This motion to substitute a party is scheduled to 
be heard on May 10, 2018.  This court cannot rule on Nationstar’s motion for summary judgment 
unless and until the correct party Plaintiff is in the case.  
 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01334 
CASE NAME: NATIONSTAR VS. GRANADOS 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to June 28, 2018 in Dept. 33 at 9:00 AM. 
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 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02114 
CASE NAME: TEKFORCE VS. AXXERA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY AXXERA INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Present Motion 
 
Before the Court is defendant Axxera Inc.’s (“Defendant”) Motion To Set Aside Default and 
Default Judgment Pursuant to CCP § 473(d) (the “Motion”). By way of the Motion, Defendant 
seeks to set aside a default judgment entered against it on September 21, 2017, and a default 
entered on April 19, 2017. The Motion is untimely opposed by plaintiff Tekforce Corporation 
(“Plaintiff”). For reasons stated below, the Motion is granted. 
 
Relevant Factual and Procedural Background 
 
This is a collection case where both parties are corporations. Plaintiff filed its Complaint on 
October 31, 2016. On January 11, 2017, January 19, 2017, and January 25, 2017, and March 2, 
2017, Plaintiff attempted to personally serve Defendant through its agent designated for service 
of process, Reddy Marri (“Mr. Marri”). (Dyle Decl. at ¶ 3; POS filed March 20, 2017 at p. 1.) The 
service was attempted at 7 Calle Gaulteria, San Clemente, California (the “Calle address”). 
(POS filed March 20, 2017 at p. 1.; Dyle Decl. ¶ 3.) On March 2, 2017, Plaintiff’s process server 
attempted substitute service on Mr. Marri at the Calle address by serving a John Doe who 
accepted service. (POS filed March 20, 2017 at p. 1.; Dyle Decl. ¶ 4, Ex. 1, p. 1.) The Calle 
address is Mr. Marri’s home, not a business. (Marri Decl. at ¶ 4.) Mr. Marri was away on a trip 
on March 2, 2017. (Marri Decl. at ¶¶ 7-9.) And he was not served at any time, including on 
March 2, 2017. (Marri Decl. at ¶ 9.)  
 
Furthermore, Defendant asserts that at all relevant times including January 11th, 19th, 25th, and 
March 2nd, Defendant’s principal place of business was located at 5251 California Ave., Irvine, 
California 92617. (Dyle Decl. at ¶ 5.) 
 
Default was entered in this case on April 19, 2017, and default judgment was entered on 
September 21, 2017. Defendant filed its Motion to set aside on March 19, 2018.  
 
Analysis  
 
Defendant’s Motion argues that the Court did not have personal jurisdiction over Defendant at 
the time of the entry of default because Defendant was not properly served before then. 
Accordingly, Defendant argues, the default and default judgment entered against it are void and 
should be set aside under Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) section 473, subdivision (d). 
Defendant requests that all monies levied as a result of the judgment be returned.  
 
In opposition, Plaintiff contends that Defendant had actual knowledge of the lawsuit prior to the 
entry of default judgment. The notice requirement, however, is not satisfied by actual knowledge 
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of the action without service conforming to the statutory requirements. (Taylor-Rush v. Multitech 
Corp. (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 103, 111; internal citations omitted.) 
 
Plaintiff argues that the Motion is untimely under CCP section 473(b) which bars relief after six 
months after the judgment is entered. Defendant, however, does not bring the Motion under that 
provision. Rather, Defendant’s Motion lies on CCP section 473(d). And here is where the Court 
commences its analysis. All reference to sections and subdivisions below will pertain to the 
CCP.  
 

I. Motion to Set Aside Judgment Under CCP 473, Subdivision (d) 
 
Section 473, subdivision (d) provides in pertinent part: “The court may, ... on motion of either 
party after notice to the other party, set aside any void judgment or order.” A void judgment may 
result where service was improper; and courts have adopted by analogy the statutory period for 
relief from a default judgment under CCP section 473.5—the two-year outer limit. (Trackman v. 
Kenney (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 175, 180.) 
 

a. Proper Service of a Corporation 
 

Section 416.10 governs service of process upon corporations. Subdivision (a) allows for the 
service of summons to be served on a corporation by delivering a copy of the summons and the 
complaint “[t]o the person designated as agent for service of process....” Here, it is undisputed 
that Mr. Marri is the person designated as agent for service of process, and thus, service to him 
is permitted under 416.10(a).  
 
The evidence before the Court indicates that Plaintiff’s process server attempted substitute 
service upon Mr. Marri by leaving a copy of the summons with a “John Doe” and then mailing a 
copy by first class mail. (POS of Summons filed March 20, 2017, at p. 1.) This manner of service 
of summons is governed by CCP section 415.20. In dispute is whether section 415.20, 
subdivision (a), or subdivision (b) applies here. As explained below, the Court finds that 
subdivision (a), not subdivision (b), applies. First, the Court examines the limitations of 
subdivision (b), followed by an examination of subdivision (a). 
 

i. CCP Section 415.20, Subdivision (b)  
 

Section 415.20, subdivision (b), allows for service to a person’s home if that person falls within 
one of the categories specified by that subdivision: “If a copy of the summons and complaint 
cannot with reasonable diligence be personally delivered to the person to be served, as 
specified in Section 416.60, 416.70, 416.80, or 416.90, a summons may be served by leaving a 
copy of the summons and complaint at the person’s dwelling house, usual place of abode...” 
(Italics added.) This provision permits service of process by leaving a copy of the summons for 
the person to be served, but only if the “person to be served” is specifically listed in the sections 
provided: section 416.60 for serving a minor or his parent; section 416.70 for serving a person 
for whom a guardian has been appointed; section 416.80 for serving someone under provisions 
of the elections code; and section 416.90 for serving a person not otherwise specified in that 
article, Article 4. Here, it is undisputed that Mr. Marri is the listed agent for service of process, 
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and Mr. Marri does not fall into any category provided by the listed sections. And thus, section 
415.20(b) does not apply and service at Mr. Marri’s home was improper under that subdivision. 
 

ii. CCP 415.20, Subdivision (a) 
 

Section 415.20, subdivision (a), provides that, “In lieu of personal delivery of a copy of the 
summons and complaint to the person to be served as specified in Section 416.10.... a 
summons may be served by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint during usual office 
hours in his or her office or, if no physical address is known, at his or her usual mailing address, 
other than a United States Postal Service post office box, with the person who is apparently in 
charge thereof, and by thereafter mailing a copy of the summons and complaint by first-class 
mail....” Having already established that Mr. Marri’s service is permitted under section 416.10, 
the Court finds that subdivision (a) applies to the case at bar.  
 
Subdivision (a) allows service of process by leaving a copy of the summons at the person’s 
office, not home. Here, the evidence before the Court indicates that the service was attempted 
at Mr. Marri’s home. Plaintiff argues that although the Calle address corresponds to Mr. Marri’s 
residence, it is also listed as a business address for serving the corporation’s agent. (Oppo. at p. 
4:22-28.) However, Plaintiff provides no evidence showing that the Calle address is listed as a 
business address. Mr. Marri’s declaration indicates that the Calle address is his home and 
personal residence, and not his place of business. And thus, the Court finds that the attempted 
substitute service on Mr. Marri occurred at his home, not a business as indicated on the Proof of 
Service. (POS of Summons filed March 20, 2017, ¶ 5(b)(1).)  
 
Because Mr. Marri’s service is governed by section 416.10(a), service of process should have 
occurred at his office under section under section 415.20, subdivision (a). Consequently, the 
attempted service at Mr. Marri’s home was improper, and Defendant was not properly served. 
Accordingly, the default judgment is void under CCP section 473(d), and the Motion is granted. 
 
Defendant may file and serve its proposed Answer by May 9, 2018.  
 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00668 
CASE NAME: BAY AREA PROP VS. WINDFLOWER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO EXPUNGE LIS PENDENS 
FILED BY WINDFLOWER FIELDS, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Wildflower moves to expunge the lis pendens that plaintiff, Bay Area Property 
Developers (“BAPD”) recorded against the property on April 18, 2017.  The motion to expunge 
is moot because BAPD withdrew the lis pendens on April 17, 2018. 
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10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00668 
CASE NAME: BAY AREA PROP VS. WINDFLOWER 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM INADVERTENT WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL 
FILED BY WINDFLOWER FIELDS, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. Jury fees to be deposited by 5/10/18.  

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01254 
CASE NAME: FOSTER VS. MITCHELL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE DISMISSAL 
FILED BY ANTHONY FOSTER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01345 
CASE NAME: OLSON  VS.  SHANNON B. JONES LAW GROUP 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE 1st Amended CROSS-COMPLAINT 
FILED BY SHANNON B. JONES LAW GROUP, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendant Shannon B. Jones Law Group, Inc.’s (“SBJLG”) motion for leave to file first 

amended cross-complaint is granted.    

 Pursuant to CCP § 473(a)(1), Cross-Complainant SBJLG brings this motion to amend 

the cross-complaint to add Shannon B. Jones as a Cross-Complainant.  The FACC also seeks 

to add more details regarding the claim for indemnity and to add a new cause of action. 

 Plaintiff/Cross-Defendant Olson opposes the motion on the ground the amended cross-

complaint is a sham pleading. Ms. Olson argues that in the proposed FACC, SBJLG seeks to 

omit and contradict harmful facts pleaded in the original cross-complaint.  Olson claims that 

there has been no mistake and that SBJLG has not provided sufficient excuse or explanation for 

the changing facts.   

 "There is a policy of great liberality in permitting amendments to the pleadings at any 

stage of the proceeding. [Citations.] An application to amend a pleading is addressed to the trial 

judge's sound discretion. [Citation.]” (Berman v. Bromberg (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 936, 945.) 

“[U]nder this state's liberal rules of pleading, ‘the right of a party to amend to correct inadvertent 
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misstatements of facts or erroneous allegations of terms cannot be denied.’ [Citation.]” (Berman 

v. Bromberg (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 936, 945.)    

 On the other hand, “[A] court is not required to accept an amended complaint that is not 

filed in good faith, is frivolous or sham. [Citation.]” (American Advertising & Sales Co. v. Mid-

Western Transport (1984) 152 Cal. App. 3d 875, 878.)  “In considering a motion to amend, the 

court may examine the movant's prior pleading to determine whether the proposed pleading is a 

sham.” (Vallejo Development Co. v. Beck Development Co. (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 929, 946.) 

“‘[A]a plaintiff may not discard factual allegations of a prior complaint, or avoid them by 

contradictory averments, in a superseding, amended pleading. [Citations.]’ [Citation.]” (Oakland 

Raiders v. National Football League (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 621, 653.)   “The rationale for this 

rule is obvious. ‘A pleader may not attempt to breathe life into a complaint by omitting relevant 

facts which made his previous complaint defective.’ [Citation.]  Moreover, any inconsistencies 

with prior pleadings must be explained; if the pleader fails to do so, the court may disregard the 

inconsistent allegations. [Citation.]”   (Vallejo Development Co. v. Beck Development Co. (1994) 

24 Cal.App.4th 929, 946.)     

 The court finds the sham pleading doctrine inapplicable here.  The court does not find 

the allegations in the proposed amended cross-complaint to be contradictory to allegations in 

the original cross-complaint.  Cross-Defendant’s primary concern is that the proposed amended 

cross-complaint broadens the allegations to include facts that should have been included in the 

original complaint since Cross-Complainants were aware of such facts at the onset of the case. 

For example, the original cross-complaint alleges Ms. Olson violated a policy against removal of 

documents and the proposed amended cross-complaint alleges “documents and information.” 

While the addition of the words “and information” broadens the impact of the allegation, the 

additional language does not make the allegation contradictory to the original allegation.   

 As to the omission, the proposed amended cross-complaint omits the following 

statement: “SBJLG also denies all liability for the statements allegedly forming the basis for 

Vella-Andrade’s defamation cause of action.” Here, Cross-Complainants are no longer seeking 

to assert liability based on Ms. Olson’s misrepresentation.  Instead, Cross-Complainants seek 

liability based on the disclosure of privileged information.  So, the statement is no longer 

relevant.  The sham pleading rule should not be applied in a case where the plaintiff seeks to 

change plaintiff’s legal theory of recovery and the legal conclusions plaintiff seeks to draw from 

the underlying factual events, and also seeks to omit factual allegations that are irrelevant and 

immaterial to the new legal theories asserted.” (Berman v. Bromberg (1997) 56 Cal. App. 4th 

936, 948–949.)   

 Here, Cross-Complainants are shifting legal theories.  Cross-Complainants are moving 

from the theory that Ms. Olson caused harm by making misrepresentations to Valle-Andrade 

implicating Ms. Jones, to the theory that the statements made by Ms. Olson revealed 

information in violation of company policies. Cross-Complainant are “omitting an alternate 

factual allegation that had proven to be erroneous.”  The sham pleading rule is inapplicable. 

(See Hahn v. Mirda (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 740, 751.)  “The rule ‘is intended to prevent sham 

pleadings omitting an incurable defect in the case. However, rules of pleading are conveniences 
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to promote justice and not to impede or warp it.’” (Berman v. Bromberg (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 

936, 946.)  

 It is of course settled, the trial court has discretion to allow amendments to conform to 
the proof.  (Trafton v. Youngblood (1968) 69 Cal.2d 17, 31.) The motion is therefore granted. 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01345 
CASE NAME: OLSON VS. SHANNON B. JONES LAW GROUP 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01618 
CASE NAME: BACA VS. PATTERSON DENTAL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE TO DEMAND FOR PRODUCTION OF 
DOCUMENTS  /  FILED BY PATTERSON DENTAL SUPPLY INC., JACOB CHASTAIN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. No opposition. Documents responsive to these requests are to be produced without 
objection by May 24, 2018. Sanctions awarded in the amount of $860.  

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01618 
CASE NAME: BACA VS. PATTERSON DENTAL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORIES 
FILED BY PATTERSON DENTAL SUPPLY INC., JACOB CHASTAIN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. No opposition. Answers to these interrogatories are to be produced without objection 
by May 24, 2018. Sanctions awarded in the amount of $860. 
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16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01618 
CASE NAME: BACA VS. PATTERSON DENTAL 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00408 
CASE NAME: STEPHENS VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY BRECKENRIDGE PROPERTY FUND 2016, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is continued by the Court to May 31, 2018, at 9:00 a.m., in Department 33.  
The purpose of the continuance is to allow both pending demurrers to be heard on the 
same day. 
 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00454 
CASE NAME: JOHNSON VS. SAN PABLO HEALTH 
HEARING ON PETITION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION 
FILED BY SAN PABLO HEALTHCARE & WELLNESS CENTER, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See also line 22. 
 
             Defendants San Pablo Healthcare & Wellness Center, LLC, Sol Healthcare, LLC, and 
SR Capital, LLC’s Petition to Compel Arbitration is granted.  
 
   This is an elder abuse cause of action brought by Plaintiff Lionel Johnson, a 75-year-old 
male with congenital heart defects and a defibrillator implant.  Johnson was admitted to 
Defendant San Pablo Healthcare & Wellness Center (“Facility”), a 24-hour skilled nursing facility 
on July 9, 2016. Plaintiff alleges Defendant Sol Healthcare, LLC and Defendant SR Capital, LLC 
were the owners, operators, parent company, and/or management company of the Facility.    
  
 Plaintiff Lionel Johnson signed an Arbitration Agreement on July 11, 2016. Provisions 
1.1 and 1.2 of the Agreement encompasses all disputes “that relate to or arise out of the 
provision of services or health care or any failure to provide services or health care by Facility.”  
The Arbitration Agreement also provided for arbitration of “any dispute between them from torts, 
contracts, or otherwise, including any claims for punitive damages and any actions brought on 
behalf of the Resident by third-parties.” 
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   Pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. and Cal. Code of Civil 
Procedure § 1281.2, Defendants bring this petition for an order compelling Plaintiff to arbitrate 
the controversy alleged against Defendants.  Pursuant to CCP § 1281.4, Defendants seek a 
stay of all proceedings in this court pending the determination of the Petition, and if arbitration is 
ordered, until the arbitration is completed. 
 
 “A petition to compel arbitration 'is in essence a suit in equity to compel specific 
performance of a contract.' [Citations.]” (Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. 
(1996) 14 Cal.4th 394, 411.) “‘[W]hen a petition to compel arbitration is filed and accompanied 
by prima facie evidence of a written agreement to arbitrate the controversy, the court itself must 
determine whether the agreement exists and, if any defense to its enforcement is raised, 
whether it is enforceable. Because the existence of the agreement is a statutory prerequisite to 
granting the petition, the petitioner bears the burden of proving its existence by a preponderance 
of the evidence. [Citation.]”  (Flores v. Nature's Best Distribution, LLC (2016) 7 Cal.App.5th 1, 8-
9.)   
 
   The court must also determine whether the dispute in question falls within the scope of 
that arbitration agreement.’ [Citation.] [Citations.]” (Bruni v. Didion (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 1272, 
1283.)   
 
 Defendant has presented prima facie evidence of a written agreement to arbitrate the 
controversy. (Sharma Decl., Exhibit. A.) It is undisputed the claims for elder abuse and 
negligence hiring and supervision arise out the medical services provided to Plaintiff.   
 
 However, Plaintiff opposes the petition on several other grounds.  First, Plaintiff argues 
that arbitration agreement only covered a portion of his stay at the Facility.  The Arbitration 
Agreement was signed two days after his admission. Plaintiff presented no authority supporting 
the proposition the Arbitration Agreement is unenforceable because it was signed two days after 
Plaintiff’s admission to the Facility. Moreover, the Arbitration Agreement covers “all disputes, 
controversies, demands or claims that relate or arise out of the provision of services or health 
care…” received by Mr. Johnson.  (Provision 1.1 and 1.2 of the Arbitration Agreement.) As such, 
the Agreement covers Mr. Johnson’s entire residency from July 9, 2016 to October 2017. 
 
 Even if the two days are not covered, this is not reason to find the entirety of the 
Arbitration Agreement unenforceable. Plaintiff has not identified, pleaded or argued any discrete 
injury occurring during those two days, which could be possibly not be covered by the 
Agreement. 
 
 Next, Plaintiff argues that his stay at the Facility consisted of two separate residencies.   
The first admission covered the stay from July 9, 2016 to August 3, 2016.  The second 
admission began August 13, 2016 and continued to his discharge in October of 2017.  Plaintiff 
maintains that during the second residency, there was no new arbitration agreement entered 
into. Therefore, there was no arbitration agreement in force during Plaintiff’s second residency 
at the Facility. 
 
 Here, Plaintiff submitted evidence that he was “discharged” from the Facility on August 
3, 2016.  Plaintiff’s evidence consist of a “Resident Transfer Form.” (Opposition, Exh. 1.) In 
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response, Defendants argue that Mr. Johnson’s temporary absence from the Facility was due to 
his stay in a local hospital. According to the document submitted by Plaintiff, Mr. Johnson was 
transferred to a local hospital for elevated temperature and elevated heart rate, which supports 
Defendants’ argument that Mr. Johnson was transferred temporarily for treatment.  
 
   There is no evidence that Plaintiff’s “discharge” on August 3, 2016 was intended 
terminate the facility-patient relationship or terminate the Arbitration Agreement.  The Resident 
Transfer Form indicated it was an “inter agency referral.” It appears the expectation was that 
Plaintiff would return to Facility after treatment.  Indeed, he returned 10 days later.  Plaintiff 
provided no authority to support the position that the temporary transfer for medical treatment 
terminated the agreement. Nor has Plaintiff provided evidence the Arbitration Agreement had 
been rescinded.   
 
 If the party opposing the petition raises a defense to enforcement-- that party bears the 
burden of producing evidence of, and proving by a preponderance of the evidence, any fact 
necessary to the defense.  (Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 
394, 413.)  A heavy presumption weighs in favor of arbitrability. (Gravillis v. Coldwell Banker 
Residential Brokerage Co. (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 761, 771.) 
 
  Next, Plaintiff argues the agreement is unenforceable because two of the three 
defendants are not mentioned in the arbitration agreement. Defendants Sol Healthcare, LLC 
and SR Capital, LLC are not identified as parties to the arbitration agreement. Plaintiff alleges 
that the Facility and Management Defendants operated in such a way to make their individual 
identities indistinguishable--mere alter-egos of each other. Plaintiff has conceded that each of 
the Defendant is indistinguishable from the other as each is the alter ego of the other.  
(Complaint, ¶ 10.)  As Defendants argued, Plaintiff cannot have it both ways.  If the Defendants 
are indistinguishable from one another, the Arbitration Agreement must be enforceable against 
the lawsuit’s named defendants. 
 
  Finally, Plaintiff argues the purported Arbitration Agreement is unconscionable, both 
procedurally and substantively.  “‘The prevailing view is that [procedural and substantive 
unconscionability] must both be present in order for a court to exercise its discretion to refuse to 
enforce a contract or clause under the doctrine of unconscionability’ [Citation.] But they need not 
be present in the same degree… In other words, the more substantively oppressive the contract 
term, the less evidence of procedural unconscionability is required to come to the conclusion 
that the term is unenforceable, and vice versa.” (Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare 
Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 114 (abrogated in part AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion 
(2011) 563 U.S. 333, 340.)    
 
 

1. Procedural Unconscionability 
 

 Here, Plaintiff maintains the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable 
because of Defendant’s superior bargaining power compared to Plaintiff’s (a very ill and 
vulnerable individual).  Moreover, Plaintiff was not given a copy of the arbitration rules, which 
supports a finding of procedural unconscionability.  (See Carbajal v CWPSC, Inc. (2016) 245 
Cal.App.4th 227, 245.)   
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  The Agreement provided an opportunity to reject the arbitration.  Provision 1.6 of the 
Agreement specifically provides, “The Agreement to arbitration is not a precondition for medical 
treatment or admission to the Facility.”  This was discussed with Mr. Johnson prior to his signing 
the agreement.  (Exh. C, Sharma Decl., ¶4.)  Defendant provides the declaration of Shona 
Sharma, admission department of San Pablo Healthcare & Wellness Center.  She states it was 
the custom and practice to meet with new residents to explain the admission documents, 
including the Arbitration Agreement.  The resident would be told that if they signed the 
agreement, they would be giving up their right to have the dispute heard before a jury.  And that 
signing the agreement was optional and not a condition of admission. (Sharma Decl., ¶ 4.) Mr. 
Johnson had the option to refuse the Agreement, which had no bearing on admission to the 
Facility.  
  
 As to Plaintiff’s claim that the Agreement is procedurally unconscionable because he did 
not have a copy of the arbitration rules, Defendants point out the rule has changed and 
Plaintiff’s reliance on Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp. (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 393) is 
misplaced. The Cal. Supreme Court in Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc. (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1237, 1246 
stated, “Trivedi itself and in each of the Court of Appeal decisions cited therein, the plaintiff's 
unconscionability claim depended in some manner on the arbitration rules in question.”  
(Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc. (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1237, 1246 [200 Cal.Rptr.3d 7, 367 P.3d 6].)  
 
 The Court stated, “Baltazar's argument accordingly might have force if her 
unconscionability challenge concerned some element of the AAA rules of which she had been 
unaware when she signed the arbitration agreement. But her challenge to the enforcement of 
the agreement has nothing to do with the AAA rules; her challenge concerns only matters that 
were clearly delineated in the agreement she signed.” (Ibid.)   Here, Plaintiff is not challenging 
some aspect of the arbitration rules.   
 
 

2. Substantive Unconscionability 
 

  Substantively, Plaintiff argues the Arbitration Agreement contains “one-sided” provisions.  
For example, the agreement prohibits “representative, consolidated and class treatment of any 
Dispute in any arbitration.” (Provision 1.3 of Arbitration Agreement, Exh. A to Petition.)  Plaintiff 
points to no other provision. 
 
 Defendants argue there is no substantive unconscionability.  There Agreement is not so 
“overly harsh” or “one-sided” as to render it substantively unconscionable.  The terms of the 
Arbitration Agreement evidence the “modicum of bilaterality” required by the courts.  (See 
Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 114-117.) The 
court is not convinced of the Plaintiff’s claim of substantive unconscionability. 
  
   The court further notes that despite Plaintiff’s Opposition to the Petition, Plaintiff has 
offered to arbitrate if Defendants choose 1 of the 5 arbitrators Plaintiff submitted and Defendants 
agreed to abide by the section 3.2 of the Agreement regarding expenses of the arbitration. 
(Plaintiff’s Opposition, Exh. 4, Plaintiff’s April 3, 2018 letter to Defense Counsel.) Defendants 
argue that Plaintiff has tacitly conceded the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement.    
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 The petition to compel arbitration is granted and the proceedings in this court are now 
stayed until the arbitration is completed. 
 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-02454 
CASE NAME: CITIBANK VS. BRIARD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY SCOTT L. BRIARD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 
ADD ON 
 

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02224 
CASE NAME: ROGERS VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., HSBC BANK USA, N.A 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The Court rules as follows on the demurrer brought by defendant Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A., and by defendant HSBC Bank USA, N.A.  The demurrer is opposed by plaintiff Laura 
Rogers. 
 
 The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend, as to all causes of action set forth in 
the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”).  Plaintiff shall file any further amended complaint on or 
before June 7, 2018, and shall comply with the conditions on leave to amend set forth below. 
 

The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
 A. The Entire FAC. 
 
  1. Tender. 

 
 Defendants demur to the entire FAC on the ground that plaintiff has failed to tender the 
amount of the underlying indebtedness.  This argument lacks merit, because the First through 
the Fifth Causes of Action seek only monetary relief.  The Court will address the Sixth Cause of 
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Action for quiet title below. 
 
  2. Causation. 
 
 The primary defect in plaintiff’s allegations is the failure to plead an intelligible theory of 
causation.  The Court requests that any further amended complaint address the following 
matters in greater detail. 
 

Equity 
 

Plaintiff makes inconsistent allegations concerning whether or not there was equity in her 
residence at the time of the subject foreclosure.  At one point, plaintiff boldly states that “Plaintiff 
had over one million dollars in equity in her Property which was stolen from her by HSBC and 
Northwest.”   (FAC, ¶ 26.)  Other allegations directly contradict this statement. 

 
Thus, when plaintiff was denied a loan modification in 2016, she “chose the short sale 

option and began to search for a potential buyer.”  (FAC, ¶ 18.)  A short sale occurs when a 
lender agrees to allow a secured property to be sold without receiving the full balance of the 
secured loan.  The willingness of both sides to allow a short sale strongly indicates that there 
was no equity in the property. 

 
Plaintiff received a purchase offer of $ 1.4 million dollars, but even this offer proved not 

to be viable “because of the condition of the property …”  (FAC, ¶ 19.)  Defendant Wells Fargo 
gave plaintiff a three-month extension to close escrow on the short sale, but plaintiff was unable 
to do so.  (Ibid.) 

 
The only other information the Court has concerning equity is the trustee’s deed, which 

recites that the loan balance was approximately $ 3.3 million as of the date of the trustee’s sale, 
and that the property sold for a credit bid of approximately $ 1.1 million.  (Defendants’ RJN, Exh. 
“F”.)  Plaintiff does not dispute the accuracy of these figures in her opposition memorandum. 

 
In any further amended complaint, plaintiff shall clarify the contradictory allegations 

concerning equity.  Plaintiff shall affirmatively allege her estimate of the fair market value of her 
residence at the time of the trustee’s sale, and the basis for that estimate.  If plaintiff is relying 
on an appraisal, she shall attach a copy to her amended complaint as a tabbed exhibit.  Plaintiff 
shall also affirmatively allege the approximate dollar amount of the balance of her mortgage loan 
at the time of the trustee’s sale.  Finally, plaintiff shall allege in reasonable detail what “condition 
of the property” prevented escrow from closing on the $ 1.4 million dollar short sale, and how 
that condition bears on the question of equity in the property. 
 

The Sale 
 
 Plaintiff alleges that she had an “authorized agent” attend the foreclosure sale on 
November 6, 2017, and that the agent had “the intention of bidding on the property.”  (FAC, ¶ 
25.)  The Court frankly does not understand these allegations, much less how they support a 
theory of causation. 
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 In any further amended complaint, plaintiff shall identify the “authorized agent” by name, 
and shall allege in reasonable detail the nature of the relationship between plaintiff and the 
agent.  If plaintiff and the agent had a contractual relationship, plaintiff shall allege the terms of 
the contract.  If the contract is written, plaintiff shall attach a copy of the contract as a tabbed 
exhibit. 
 
 With regard to the “intention of bidding,” plaintiff shall allege whether the agent would be 
bidding with plaintiff’s money or with the agent’s own money, the source of the money, and how 
much the agent was prepared to bid.  Plaintiff shall also allege whether the agent showed up on 
November 6 with the certified funds necessary to effectuate a bid, as is required at a nonjudicial 
foreclosure sale. 
 
 Finally, plaintiff shall allege facts showing how the alleged failure to continue the sale 
from November 6 to December 7 caused plaintiff harm, and in particular, what would have 
happened differently on December 7 if the sale had been continued.  It would appear to the 
Court that, unless plaintiff’s “authorized agent” showed up at a December 7 sale with certified 
funds in the approximate amount of the subject residence’s fair market value, the residence 
would still have been sold to defendant HSBC through a credit bid.  And if the agent had 
purchased the property through a successful bid, what then?  Would the agent have just deeded 
the property over to plaintiff for free? 
 

Loan Modification 
 

 Plaintiff was the borrower on a loan of almost $ 2 million dollars.  (FAC, ¶ 10.)  Plaintiff 
appears to have had difficulty making loan payments beginning in September 2009, after only 
two and a half years.  (FAC, ¶ 12.)  At some point plaintiff and her spouse separated, which may 
have contributed to her financial difficulties.  (FAC, ¶ 23.) 
 

More than seven years ago, in January 2011, plaintiff entered into a forbearance 
agreement.  (FAC, ¶ 14.)  While defendants refrained from initiating foreclosure for more than 
four years after this agreement, defendants’ forbearance did not result in a loan modification, a 
refinance through a different lender, or a sale of the property.  Plaintiff shall attach a copy of the 
forbearance agreement as a tabbed exhibit to any further amended complaint. 
 

Three years ago, in May 2015, defendants finally recorded a notice of default.  
(Defendants’ RJN, Exh. “D”.)  However, defendants did not rush to conduct a trustee’s sale; they 
did not record a notice of trustee’s sale until March 2017, almost two years later.  (Exh. “E”.)  
And they continued the original sale date from April 20, 2017, to November 6, 2017.  (Exhs. “E” 
and “F”.) 

 
In November 2016, defendants gave plaintiff the opportunity to conduct a short sale.  

(FAC, ¶ 19.)  However, despite being given a three-month extension to consummate such a 
sale, plaintiff was unable to close escrow.  (Ibid.) 
 
 By October 27, 2017, defendant Wells Fargo had considered and denied plaintiff’s latest 
application for a loan modification.  (FAC, ¶ 23.)  By November 3, 2017, Wells Fargo had 
considered and denied plaintiff’s appeal of the denial.  (FAC, ¶ 23 and ¶ 24.)  Even when Wells 
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Fargo agreed to take into consideration the possibility of an additional (and highly implausible) 
voluntary contribution from plaintiff’s estranged spouse, Wells Fargo found that plaintiff did not 
qualify for a loan modification.  (Ibid.)  The property was sold at foreclosure only after all 
documentation submitted by plaintiff, including that faxed to Wells Fargo for the first time on 
November 2, 2017, only four days before the scheduled foreclosure sale, had been considered.  
(Ibid.) 
 
 In light of the lengthy period of default, plaintiff’s multiple failed attempts to address her 
default, and defendants’ full consideration and denial of plaintiff’s latest application for a loan 
modification, plaintiff has failed to allege facts indicating that any technical defect in the 
foreclosure process caused plaintiff harm.  Rather, the sole cause of plaintiff’s harm appears to 
have been her inability to pay her mortgage loan on the terms she had originally agreed to. 
 
 B. Individual Causes of Action. 
 
 1st C/A.  The First Cause of Action is for wrongful foreclosure.  Plaintiff has failed to 
allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for the reasons stated in Part A-2 of this 
ruling above.  Plaintiff shall omit all references to the Homeowner Bill of Rights (“HBOR”) in any 
amended cause of action for wrongful foreclosure; HBOR is a self-contained statutory scheme 
with its own remedies statute, and cannot serve as the foundation for a common law cause of 
action.  (See, FAC, ¶ 31.) 
 
 2nd and 3rd C/As.  The Second and Third Causes of Action are for intentional fraud and 
negligent misrepresentation.  Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of 
action for the reasons stated in Part A-2 of this ruling above. 
 
 4th C/A.  The Fourth Cause of Action is an HBOR cause of action, based on an alleged 
violation of Civil Code section 2923.6.  Plaintiff has failed to allege a “material” HBOR violation 
for the reasons stated in Part A-2 of this ruling above.  If plaintiff realleges this cause of action in 
a further amended complaint, and defendants demur, both sides shall brief the issue of whether 
the prohibition against dual tracking in section 2923.6, which expired at the end of 2017, can be 
invoked retroactively. 
 
 5th C/A.  The Fifth Cause of Action is an HBOR cause of action, based on an alleged 
violation of Civil Code section 2923.7.  Plaintiff has failed to allege a “material” HBOR violation 
for the reasons stated in Part A-2 of this ruling above.  Further, plaintiff has failed to intelligibly 
allege even a non-material violation of section 2923.7; plaintiff does not dispute that she was 
assigned a single point of contact, as the statute requires, but instead appears to find fault with 
the manner in which her single point of contact performed his or her duties.  Section 2923.7 
does not provide a cause of action for malfeasance by a single point of contact; it only requires 
that one be appointed.  Finally, the lapses plaintiff describes do not appear to have been 
“material,” because plaintiff’s application for a loan modification was considered on the merits. 
 
 6th C/A.  The Sixth Cause of Action is for quiet title.  Plaintiff has failed to allege facts 
sufficient to constitute a cause of action for the reasons stated in Part A-2 of this ruling above.  
Further, plaintiff has failed to allege tender of the underlying indebtedness, or facts showing that 
an exception to the tender rule applies. 
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 C. Conditions on Leave to Amend. 
 
  1. Limitation on Scope. 
 
 Plaintiff shall not add any new defendants or any new causes of action, without leave of 
court after a noticed motion.  (See, Harris v. Wachovia Mortgage, FSB (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 
1018, 1022-23.) 
 
  2. Damages or Restitution. 
 
 In any further amended complaint, plaintiff shall allege the estimated dollar amount of 
any compensatory damages or restitution that plaintiff seeks, other than damages for personal 
injury, and how that dollar amount was calculated.  (See, Code Civ. Proc., § 425.10, subd. (a)(2) 
[“[i]f the recovery of money or damages is demanded, the amount demanded shall be stated”].) 
 
  3. The Sham Pleading Rule. 
 
 Plaintiff shall bear in mind, and shall not violate, the sham pleading rule.  (See generally, 
Larson v. UHS of Rancho Springs, Inc. (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 336, 343-345.)  This is of 
particular concern in the case at bar, given that plaintiff has verified her pleading.  
  
  4. Attorney Declaration. 
 
 Plaintiff shall file and serve, along with any further amended complaint, a separate 
declaration signed by plaintiff’s counsel.  Attached to this declaration shall be a ‘redlined’ copy of 
the further amended complaint.  This redlined copy shall show all amendments to the First 
Amended Complaint in the following manner: deleted language shall be shown in ‘strike-
through’ text, and added language shall be shown in shaded, bold, or underlined text.  Plaintiff’s 
counsel shall be prepared to explain, in plaintiff’s opposition to any renewed demurrer, how the 
highlighted amendments cure the pleading defects identified in this ruling.  If plaintiff fails to 
timely file and serve this declaration, defendants may apply to the Court for an ex parte order 
striking the further amended complaint and entering judgment in defendants’ favor.  In that 
event, defendants shall provide the Court with a proposed judgment separate from any 
corresponding order. 
  
 D. Defendants’ Papers. 
 
 Defendants’ opening papers contain serious deficiencies.  The supporting declaration of 
defendants’ attorney fails to allege that the attorney conferred “in person or by telephone,” as 
required by statute.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.41.)  The supporting memorandum inaccurately 
claimed that plaintiff had transferred the subject residence to her then-husband.  Defendants 
failed to distinguish between claims for monetary relief and claims for equitable relief in their 
argument on tender, failed to address the issue of malice in their argument on privilege, and 
failed to address the expiration of the prohibition against ‘dual tracking’ in the former version of 
Civil Code section 2923.6. 
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 The overall impression created by defendants’ opening papers, which were apparently 
signed and initialed by someone not the attorney of record (a paralegal or legal secretary?), is 
that defendants were relying heavily on boilerplate arguments from previous cases, and were 
not addressing in a focused way the allegations of the FAC.  The Court hopes for greater rigor in 
the briefing of any future demurrer. 

 

 

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02224 
CASE NAME: ROGERS VS. WELLS FARGO 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
 

 

22.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00454 
CASE NAME: JOHNSON VS. SAN PABLO HEALTH 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR TRIAL PREFERENCE PER CCP 36 
FILED BY LIONEL JOHNSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
Denied, given the order granting the motion to compel arbitration. See line #18. 
 
 

 

23.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01563 
CASE NAME: BAY STONE VS. FIRST GLOBAL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL FURTHER RESPONSES & PRODUCTION 
OF DOCUMENTS  /  FILED BY BAY STONE DEPOT INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
  
 
Appear. 
 
 

 

24.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01563 
CASE NAME: BAY STONE VS. FIRST GLOBAL 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER LIMITING DISCOVERY 
FILED BY FIRST GLOBAL DESIGN LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
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25.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01563 
CASE NAME: BAY STONE VS. FIRST GLOBAL 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE OF TRIAL 
FILED BY BAY STONE DEPOT INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
Appear. 
 
 

 


